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Summary

The Osprey School, 337 N. Tamiami Trail, is an elongated 
one-story building with an irregular plan. The vernacular 
structure has a few Spanish Colonial Revival style features, 
primarily the stucco treatment of the wall surface and the 
original entrance portico. This six-classroom elementary school 
was constructed in 1926 of structural clay tile walls set on a 
concrete slab foundation. The cross gabled roof is clad with 
composition roll roofing.

Setting

The Osprey School is located on the west side of Tamiami 
Trail (U.S. 41), at the northern boundary of the town of Osprey 
(photo 1). The rectangular school parcel, containing 2.41 acres, 
is bound on the north by a vacant strip of land, on the west by a 
mobile home park, and on the south by the First Baptist Church of 
Osprey and its related cemetery. The school occupies the eastern 
end of the parcel and sits back about twenty feet from the right- 
of-way for Tamiami Trail (U.S. 41). This close proximity is the 
result of several road widening projects.

A semi-circular shell drive extends west of the building, 
with entrances to the street both north and south of the 
building. Several cedar and oak trees line the front (east) 
portion of the site. One large oak tree shades an area southwest 
of the west entrance. A well and water system, completed in 1964 
and enclosed by a fence, remain along the north property line. A 
concrete basketball court occupies the southwest corner of the 
lot.

Physical Appearance

The building is approximately 190 feet long and 32 feet 
wide. Centrally located on the main (east) facade is the gabled 
entrance bay featuring a semi-circular arched pediment supported 
by wood box columns (photo 2). The columns originally formed an 
open triple bay entrance, but the openings have since been 
enclosed with plywood, metal awning windows, and a single wood 
door. A set of brick steps leads up to this entrance.
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Symmetrical wings extending north and south of the central 
entrance bay contain three classrooms each. Groups of five 
wooden windows, composed of two stacked horizontal pivot sash (6 
lights each) and triple-light transoms, highlight the east, north 
and south facades. Gable extensions of the northern and southern 
most classrooms contain three individual horizontal pivot wood 
windows, with triple-light transoms, and a small arched louvered 
gable vent above. Individual air conditioning units, serving 
each classroom, were later added in some window openings and 
through the walls on the front (east) facade. All of the window 
air conditioning units have since been removed and the openings 
have been boarded up (without replacement windows).

Extending across the west facade is a porch/hallway 
constructed of wood columns and wood framing members, with 
screening in the upper two-thirds of the exterior walls (photo 
3). Plywood panels conceal the lower third of the screened 
walls. The plywood panels and screening are obviously later 
modifications, although the dates of these changes are unknown. 
Two restrooms, extending west from the porch/hallway, are 
constructed of structural clay tile walls with a stuccoed 
exterior finish. The west elevation of each restroom ell 
features a central window and a small arched louvered gable vent.

The school's floor plan has remained basically unaltered 
since its construction in 1926. It is essentially a long 
rectangular one-story masonry structure (190 feet by 32 feet) 
with six classroom spaces and a central administrative office 
core. A nine-foot-wide screened wooden porch extends the length 
of the west side (approximately 170 feet long) serving as an 
exterior hallway accessing each classroom and the central office 
core (photo 4). The original entrance porch has been enclosed 
for additional office space and also serves as a secondary 
entrance. The west, now primary, entrance is accessed by steps 
and a ramp leading to a screened door located slightly north of 
center, opening into the long hallway. Additional screened doors 
access the hallway on the north and south (photo 5).

The interior partitions are constructed of structural clay 
tile and all interior wall surfaces have been plastered and 
painted. Standard wood members are used for the off-grade floor 
and roof framing. Original wood flooring has been covered in 
most of the classrooms with carpet.
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Each classroom measures approximately 30 feet by 22 feet 
(photo 6). The northern and southern most classrooms protrude 
slightly from the east face of the building. Two of the rooms in 
the northern wing are separated by eight floor-to-ceiling wood 
folding doors, allowing the rooms to be opened into a large 
auditorium space (photo 7).

The main entrance was originally open from the east to west. 
It was later enclosed for use as administrative office space. 
Two small offices were created in the original entrance porch, 
also enclosed at a later date. The original central entrance 
hall is surrounded by four small rooms and a small hallway 
leading to the first classroom in the south wing. Two of these 
rooms are private restrooms, one is used for storage, and the 
other is inaccessible.

Although the Osprey School is currently vacant, plans call 
for its renovation and use as a visitor center for the nearby 
Historic Spanish Point (NR listed 1975 as the Osprey 
Archaeological and Historical Site),
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SUMMARY

The Osprey School is significant at the local level under 
National Register criteria A and C. It was one of five schools 
built between 1926 and 1928 along the Tamiami Trail in Sarasota 
County. These school buildings were constructed to meet the 
needs of the expected population increase due to the 1920s 
Florida Land Boom (Criterion A). The Osprey School remained in 
use as an elementary school and then teaching center until 1989. 
Designed by well-known Tampa architect, M, Leo Elliott, the 
vernacular building has minimal Spanish Colonial Revival style 
details. The design of the building responded to the needs of a 
local community elementary school in a hot and humid climate 
using simple, yet classical, design elements (Criterion C). 
Although now vacant, it remains in good condition with very few 
alterations .

HISTORIC CONTEXT

In February 1867, a well-educated farming family from Utica, 
New York began a journey to Florida, prompted by the 
Congressional Homestead Act of 1862. By September 1867, they had 
selected a homestead along the lower Sarasota Bay. John and 
Eliza Webb, their five children, Eliza's father, Samuel Graves, 
and her sister Emily planted a garden and began construction on 
their new home, which they named Spanish Point.

The Webb family settled fourteen miles south of the Whi taker 
homestead, located in what is now the city of Sarasota. They 
were the only residents in the general area, but quickly 
encouraged friends from the north to visit and set up their own 
homesteads. Gradually a small community formed, and in 1884 Webb 
applied for a post office, named Osprey at his request. He chose 
the name because of his admiration for this beautiful bird. By 
1897, the General Directory of Manatee County described Osprey as 
a fine fishing point with land suitable for citrus production. 
Fifteen families were listed as residents of Osprey. The Webb 
family operated a hotel at their home. Many guests stayed at 
Spanish Point, and a number of them returned annually. Some 
eventually made the area their home.

John and Eliza Webb conveyed parcels of about 20 acres of 
land on the north and south ends of the 145 acre homestead to
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their children Lizzie and Will. Lizzie received a deed to the 
northern plot; Will received the southern portion. On part of 
his segment, Will platted the Village of Osprey subdivision. 
Palmetto Avenue, named for a large palm growing there, connected 
Will's parcel of land and the subdivision to the original 
homestead road. The rest of the Webb homestead was rarely 
parcelled out. Ownership mostly remained with the original 
homesteaders, except for the repeat boarders who managed to get 
Webb to sell off a small parcel for a winter home.

Mrs. Potter Palmer, intrigued by a real estate advertisement 
in the Chicago Daily Trj-bune. traveled from Chicago to Sarasota 
early in 1910. That year Mrs. Palmer, her brother and her son 
began purchasing land in the Sarasota area and eventually formed 
the Sarasota-Venice Company. Mrs. Palmer established her winter 
residence in Osprey, near the coastal center of the Palmer land 
holdings. She remodeled a house sited north of Frank and Lizzie 
Webb Guptill's house and named it the Oaks. She eventually 
purchased additional land which was part of the Webb family 
homestead, renaming it Osprey Point. The future growth of the 
area was aided by the extension of the Seaboard Air Line Railway 
through Osprey on its way to Venice around 1912.

In 1922, the Sarasota County Directory described Osprey as a 
village and post office close to the shore. About 118 residents 
were listed in the directory, many with northern addresses as 
well. To the north, in Sarasota, land values had increased 
slowly but steadily after World War I. Between 1923 and 1925 
subdivisions sprang up everywhere, including some new ones in 
Osprey. The Florida Land Boom had begun.

During the 1920s roads were improved throughout Sarasota 
County and most of Florida. The Tamiami Trail was blazed through 
the Everglades in April 1923. It was not officially completed 
and opened until April 1928, finally joining Miami and Tampa by 
way of Fort Myers and Sarasota. The Trail passed through the 
heart of the community of Osprey.

The population of Osprey had increased from 150 in 1918 to 
200 by 1925. The anticipated continuing growth of population was 
brought to a halt by the collapse of the Land Boom. By 1926, 
Osprey 's population had decreased to about 84 inhabitants. By 
1938 it had climbed to only 120.
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HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

The increased population that resulted from the Land Boom 
necessitated the construction of new educational facilities. In 
1926, four new schools were designed by Tampa architect, M. Leo 
Elliott, for Sarasota County, all located along the new Tamiami 
Trail. Three were located within the city limits of Sarasota and 
the fourth was the Osprey School, located about ten miles south 
of downtown Sarasota. The schools in the city of Sarasota [Bay 
Haven Elementary (NR 4/23/84), the Sarasota High School (NR 
3/22/84), and Southside Elementary School (NR 9/14/84)] were 
recommended by the Cambridge, Massachusetts planner, John Nolen, 
in a 1925 comprehensive plan for the city. These three school 
are still used as educational facilities by the Sarasota County 
School Board. In addition to the schools designed by Elliott, 
Sarasota County, in the 1920s, erected school facilities in 
Nokomis and in Laurel. The two-room Nokomis school was built in 
1924 for the neighboring communities of Nokomis and Venice. It 
was enlarged ca. 1928 and was demolished in 1970. The Laurel 
School, about five miles south of Osprey, on the Tamiami Trail, 
was built in 1928 from the designs of H. C. Schwebke. It was 
demolished in 1994.

Prior to construction of the Osprey School, classes were 
held in a frame, one-room school building located at a nearby 
site. The old school building served all grades in one room. 
When it was time for a class to work with the teacher, that class 
sat in the front row seats. When finished, the class moved to 
the back of the room and the students continued their work 
independently. The front seats were therefore always left open 
for each class to take a turn working with the teacher.

Newspaper accounts indicate that construction bids obtained 
before a site for the new building was acquired. The land for 
the school building was purchased by the Board of Public 
Instruction for the County of Sarasota from Ernest A. and Mabel 
W. Johnson on December 28, 1926. Mabel Webb Johnson was William 
Webb's daughter. This parcel was most likely part of Will Webb's 
plot deeded to him by his father, John G. Webb.

Construction bids were accepted in July 1926 for a two-story 
elementary school in Osprey, but were all higher than the 
available $30,000 bond. New bids were requested in August, and a 
contract was awarded for a one-story, six-classroom building on
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August 6, 1926. A construction time of approximately six months 
was anticipated. The firm of Becchetti and Romersa completed the 
new building in early 1927 (photo 8).

The Board of Public Instruction for Sarasota County 
consisted of the following four members in 1926: A. L. Joiner, 
Chairman; Thomas L. Livermore; Claude T. Curry; and T. W. 
Yarbrough, Superintendent. The Osprey School Board of Trustees 
included: Charles W. Webb, Chairman, T. L. McAuley and A. B. 
Hand. These names are listed on the dedication plaque located in 
the original entrance porch to the school (photo 9). The 
chairman, Charles W. Webb, was Mabel Webb Johnson's older brother 
and John G. Webb's grandson.

The new Osprey School apparently opened sometime in the 
spring of 1927 and served grades 1 through 9 for the students in 
Osprey, Vamo, and the surrounding areas. Students began first 
grade in the southern classroom and worked their way up through 
the grades toward the north classrooms. After ninth grade, the 
children were bussed to the new 1926 Sarasota High School where 
they joined classmates from Venice, Nokomis, and Laurel.

The Osprey School was remodeled in 1959 by the Sarasota 
architectural firm of West and Waters. At this time the front 
entrance porch was enclosed to create two additional offices. 
Other minor changes were completed to improve the structure for 
the children's use. Individual air conditioning and heating 
units were added to each classroom.

ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE

Each of the school buildings designed by M. Leo Elliott in 
Sarasota County in 1926 is different from the others, 
representative of Elliott's eclectic style of work and broad 
range of talents. All of them, however, featured an ornamented 
central entrance bay flanked by symmetrical classroom wings. The 
Bay Haven and Southside Elementary Schools were designed in the 
Mediterranean Revival style with a rich application of stucco and 
cast stone ornamentation. The Sarasota High School displays 
Elliott's ability to design in the Collegiate Gothic style, 
popular for many university campuses.
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Because Elliot was working with a limited budget in Osprey, 
the school received little ornamentation. The result was a 
building that was strikingly modern in its appearance and that 
incorporated an efficient and logical floor plan. Elliott's 
design provided maximum cross ventilation through the classrooms, 
necessary to survive the hot, humid Florida climate before air 
conditioning was readily available. In addition, the exterior 
hallway reduced overall construction costs.

Elliott, a native of Woodstock, New York, moved to Tampa in 
1907. He had studied architecture at the Cooper Institute and 
Don Barber's Atelier in New York City. Soon after arriving in 
Tampa, Elliott prepared competition drawings and won commissions 
for the Centre Asturiano clubhouse and the YMCA building. He 
then joined in partnership with B. C. Bonfoey, an established 
Tampa architect. Their firm designed the Tampa City Hall in 
1915.

During World War I, Elliott served as an engineer 
constructing concrete oil tankers in Jacksonville. After the 
war, he resumed his architectural practice in Tampa under the 
name M. Leo Elliott Inc., Architects and Engineers. At its peak, 
the firm employed 46 draftsmen, six structural engineers, 17 
inspectors and a secretarial staff. In addition to designing 
many of Tampa's important buildings, Elliott also designed 
Sarasota's first skyscraper, the First National Bank Building at 
Palm and Main Street, later known as the Orange Blossom Hotel.

Elliott's fine reputation extended to Tallahassee where he 
designed the expansion wings of the Florida House and Senate for 
the State Capitol in the 1930s. During World War II, Elliott 
opened an office in Atlanta to design war housing. After the 
war, M. Leo Elliott and Eliot C. Fletcher worked as partners. 
Elliott retired in 1950 and died in 1967.
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Verbal Boundary Description:

A rectangular parcel, 419 feet east-west by 273 feet 
north-south (283 feet along the east property line), as 
described in Deed Book 83, Page 314, less a 5 foot wide 
strip along the west property line deeded to the Sarasota 
Bay Mobile Home Park, Inc. on January 20, 1976.

Boundary Justification:

The boundary, shown on the site plan map, encompasses 
the entire parcel that has been historically associated with 
the Osprey School.
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1. Osprey School
2. Osprey, Sarasota Co., Florida
3. Rebecca Spain Schwarz
4. October 16, 1992
5. Archaeological Consultants, Inc.
6. Main (east) facade, looking northwest
7. Photo 1 of 9

The information for items 1-5 is the same for the following 
photographs except as otherwise noted:

6. Detail, front (east) entrance, looking southwest
7. Photo 2 of 9

6. Rear (west facade), looking northeast
7. Photo 3 of 9

3. Joe Larson
4. 1991
5. Historic Spanish Point
6. Interior, looking north down hallway/porch
7. Photo 4 of 9

6. Southwest corner, looking northeast
7. Photo 5 of 9

6. Interior, north classroom, looking northeast 
7* Photo 6 of 9

6. Interior, auditorium/classroom, looking southwest
7. Photo 7 of 9

3. Unknown
4« Unknown
5. Historic Spanish Point
6. Main (east) facade, looking northwest
7. Photo 8 of 9

6. Dedication plague, north wall of original east entrance 
porch

7. Photo 9 of 9
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